
SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Thursday 18 November 2021 at 6.00 pm 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

CPH Environment and 
Infrastructure Decision Session  

 

Public Document Pack



Disclosing Pecuniary Interests - What Must You Do? 

 

 (a) You must complete a declaration of your disclosable pecuniary interests, including those of 
your spouse/civil partner (or someone with whom you are living as such) and send it to the 
Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your election or appointment to the Council. 

(b)  When you attend a meeting of the Council, Cabinet, Scrutiny Board, Committee, Sub-
Committee or Joint Committee etc, and a matter arises in which you have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest, unless you have been granted a dispensation, you must: 

 Declare the interest if you have not already registered it 

 Not participate in any discussion or vote 

 Leave the meeting room until the matter has been dealt with 

 Give written notice of any unregistered interest to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of 
the meeting 

(c) If you are the Leader or a Cabinet Portfolio Holder you may not exercise any of your 
delegated powers as a single member in relation to a matter in which you have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or take any other step except to give written notice of any unregistered interest 
to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your becoming aware of the interest, or arrange for 
another person or body to deal with the matter. 

 

Disclosable Interest 

 

Description 

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain by you 
or your partner. 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the Council) 
made or provided within 12 months of your declaration of interests in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election 
expenses. 

Contracts Any contract between you or your partner (or a firm or body corporate in which you or 
your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities of which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest)) and the Council  
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Council and which gives you 
or your partner a right to occupy the land or receive income. 

Licences Any licence held by you or your partner (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the Council for a month or longer. 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge)— 
(a) the landlord is the Council; and 
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial interest i.e. a firm or 
body corporate in which you or your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities 
of which you or your partner has a beneficial interest. 

Securities Any beneficial interest held by you or your partner in securities of a body where— 
 
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the 
Council; and 
(b) either— 

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of 
the total issued share capital of that body; or 
 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner has a 
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
class. 

“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a 
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets 
Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a 
building society. 



 
  

SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN  
BOROUGH COUNCIL 



 
To: 
Councillors K Hawkins, T Hodgson and 
K Thomas 
 

 
NICK PAGE 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
Council House, Manor Square 
Solihull, West Midlands. B91 3QB 
Tel. 0121-704 6000  
 
Contact: Joe Suffield 
Tel: 0121 704 6104 
Email: joe.suffield@solihull.gov.uk 
 
Date: 10 November 2021 
 

 
CPH ENVIRONMENT AND INFRASTRUCTURE DECISION SESSION - 

Thursday 18 November 2021 
 

AGENDA 
 

1.  APOLOGIES  
 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

3.  QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS  
 

To receive any questions or deputations by residents of the Borough, pursuant 
to Standing Order. 
 

4.  WEST MIDLANDS CYCLE HIRE SCHEME - UPDATE (Pages 5 - 16) 
 

To provide an update on phase 1 implementation of the West Midlands Cycle 
Hire (WMCH) scheme and consider the future expansion priorities, together with 
the associated approval process. 
 

5.  DIGITAL AVERAGE SPEED ENFORCEMENT PILOT EVALUATION UPDATE 

(Pages 17 - 28) 
 

To report on the outcomes of the Average Speed Enforcement (ASE) equipment 
pilot. 
 

6.  PETITION SUMMARY (Pages 29 - 38) 
 

To provide an update on three petitions received for the Environment and 
Infrastructure portfolio, and where appropriate, agree the associated 
recommendations. 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Meeting date: 
 
Report to: 
 
Subject/report title:  
 
Report from: 
 
Report author/lead 
contact officer:   
 

18 November 2021 
 
Environment and Infrastructure Cabinet 
 
West Midlands Cycle Hire scheme - update  
 
Head of Highway Management  
 
Paul Tovey / Emma Beswick (Transport for West Midlands)

 
Wards affected:  

☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood | 

☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle | 

☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South | 

☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege 

 

 
Public/private 
report: 
 

Public 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 To provide an update on phase 1 implementation of the West Midlands Cycle Hire 
(WMCH) scheme and consider the future expansion priorities, together with the 
associated approval process.  

2. Decision(s) recommended 

2.1 The Cabinet Member is asked to: 

(a) Note the update on the West Midlands Cycle Hire scheme and that Phase 1 
for Solihull has been successfully implemented, as per the performance data 
shown in Appendix A 

(b) Note progress in bringing forward a second phase of the project for the north 
of the Borough, initially focusing on the requirements of the Commonwealth 
Games 

(c) Approve the priorities for the future roll-out of the project, when resources 
become available from the West Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA), or 
the private sector, as detailed in paragraph 4.6 and 4.7  

(d) Agree to receive a further update in 12 months’ time. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



3. Matters for Consideration 

3.1 Earlier this year, the Cycle Hire scheme was successfully rolled-out across the West 
Midlands region. There are now 1,350 pedal bikes available to hire, with a further 150 
e-bikes to be introduced in November 2021. 

3.2 As a result, there are now 38,500 registered users of the scheme, which has resulted 
in over 100,000 journeys and 50,000 hours utilised already this year. These trips all 
contribute towards the Council’s carbon saving, health and well-being and energy 
efficiency priorities.  

3.3 From a Solihull perspective, the performance data since the scheme went live in May 
2021 is summarised in Appendix A. The key items being: 

▪ Over 4,000 trips, mainly for leisure purposes 
▪ 10 docking stations completed by end of June 2021 
▪ A high proportion of journeys during the afternoon and evening periods 
▪ 13,270km travelled 
▪ Approximately a 50/50 split between ‘point to point’ journeys and circular 

trips. 
 
3.4 The performance figures for the scheme are encouraging, given the continued 

impacts of the Covid pandemic and employees continuing to work from home. There 
is room for further growth in usage over the coming months as the scheme is currently 
only based in Solihull Town Centre and Knowle. 

3.5 Appendix A also shows where customers are using the bikes. Every journey is GPS 
tracked for both performance and security purposes. This data demonstrates that the 
bikes are being used in varying environments, including main roads, local streets and 
canal tow paths. The longest recorded journey was from Sutton Coldfield to Solihull 
Town Centre. 

4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them? 

4.1 Appendix A provides a summary of usage at the individual docking stations. The site 
in Malvern Park has consistently been the best performing site, with those sites on the 
perimeter of the scheme seeing the lowest usage. Performance will continue to be 
monitored and resources may be relocated, subject to performance.  

4.2 Across the scheme, more activity has been seen during the afternoons and evenings, 
predominately supporting leisure activity. In recognition of the spare morning capacity, 
TfWM recently introduced a revised tariff structure which removes the un-locking fee 
in the mornings. This is welcomed and expected to encourage more usage generally 
across the region, details of which are provided in Appendix B. 

4.3 The data shows good compliance with users returning bikes to a docking station. 
Generally, complaints have been very low, which supports the view that the offer is 
working well, and bikes are being picked up and evenly distributed across the docking 
stations to meet normal demand.  

Page 6



4.4 Looking to the future, TfWM has confirmed that a funding bid has been submitted to 
the WMCA to provide 500 additional bikes across the region.  

4.5 Given the priority to support sustainable travel around the Commonwealth Games 
venues, the project will support each event by setting up temporary  
(virtual) docking stations for each event and supporting public transport with vouchers 
being issued with event tickets. 

4.6 The scheme is working with the Commonwealth Games organisers to provide cycles 
for the games, improving links with public transport, for the benefit of the competitors, 
spectators and the public wanting to get the NEC area.    

4.7 In addition, TfWM is trialling a scheme where businesses can purchase bike hire 
minutes for their staff, to support sustainable travel planning targets.  

4.8 Minute bundles have been introduced for users (100, 300 and 600), at 5p per minute, 
and there is no unlocking fee, which creates a cost-effective convenient option for 
frequent users. The current tariff structure is set out in Appendix B. 

4.9 TfWM team and council officers have been working together to bring forward the next 
phase of the scheme in the north of Solihull. 

4.10 Discussions will also start to take place to expand the current Solihull Town Centre 
based scheme to Shirley initially, then out to Elmdon and Olton. The expansion of the 
project will be subject to resources available and interest from the private sector.  

4.11 TfWM will make the decision concerning the financial business case for any further 
expansion of the scheme and its future priorities in accordance with their annual 
budget setting process. It is suggested that update reports to the Cabinet member are 
provided annually going forward. 

5. Reasons for recommending preferred option 

5.1 The volume of sustainable journeys taking place across the region and in Solihull is 
positive. Those choosing this mode of transport are delivering environmental, health 
and financial benefits. 

5.2 The Council will support the expansion on this project through continued partnership 
working with TfWM. 

5.3 Growing the offer around the town centre to create a true network to the NEC for the 
Commonwealth Games is recommended as the highest priority for Solihull at this 
stage. There will be large number of competitors, spectators and volunteers visiting 
the games next summer and providing this mode of transport at all sporting venues, 
hotels and transport hubs will leave a legacy for a wider community scheme to 
develop in the north of Solihull.  

5.4 Opposition spokespersons have indicated where they would like to see the scheme 
expand to in the North of the Borough, Shirley, Olton and Elmdon. These will be part 
of the planning process as the scheme develops that will be subject to funding / 
private investment coming forward and TfWM approval. 

Page 7



5.5 This is an affordable, positive and viable sustainable transport solution that has been 
well received and caused very few operational problems. It is recommended, 
therefore, that the Council should continue to support its development and growth.  

6. Implications and Considerations 

6.1 State how the proposals in this report contribute to the priorities in the Council Plan: 

Priority: Contribution: 

Economy: 

1. Revitalising our towns and local 
centres. 

2. Deliver UK Central (UKC) and maximise 
the opportunities of HS2. 

3. Increase the supply, quality and energy 
efficiency of housing, especially 
affordable and social housing. 

Over time, it is anticipated this project will 
be deployed in all our town and local 
centres to support accessibility, improve air 
quality and support sustainability. 

Environment: 

4. Enhance Solihull’s natural and physical 
environment. 

5. Improve Solihull’s air quality. 
6. Reduce Solihull’s net carbon emissions. 

The Cycle hire scheme has very strong 
links to improving noise and air quality, 
producing zero local emissions and has 
very minimal environmental impact.  

People and Communities: 

7. Take action to improve life chances and 
health outcomes in our most 
disadvantaged communities. 

8. Enable communities to thrive. 
9. Sustainable, quality care and support 

for adults and children with complex 
needs. 

Travelling by bike is a much healthier 
choice and will help a wide range of people 
get around the Borough for work and leisure 
purposes. There are also e-bikes in the 
scheme to support those with mobility 
problems. 

10. Promote employee wellbeing The TfWM team are offering employers the 
opportunity to purchase minute bundles that 
can be used by staff to travel for example, 
from Solihull Station to the Council and vice 
versa.  

6.2 Consultation and Scrutiny: 

6.2.1 None as a direct result of the recommendations of this report.  

6.3 Financial implications: 

6.3.1 The TfWM Bike Hire Scheme is self-funded and there are no direct financial 
implications for Solihull Council, except for the provision of officer time to help with the 
identification of suitable locations for the docking sites, recording them on the asset 

Page 8

https://www.solihull.gov.uk/About-the-Council/The-Council-plan


database and providing appropriate links on the website to support the promotional 
activity.  

6.3.2 There will also be the need for officers to support the on-going development work for 
this project which will continue to be funded from the Highway Management staffing 
budget. 

6.4  Legal implications: 

6.4.1 None expected because of the recommendations from this report. 

6.5 Risk implications: 

6.5.1 The project has a risk register which is over seen by TfWM and there are no net RED 
risks for this portfolio as a result. 

6.6 Equality implications: 

6.6.1 The scheme is available to all residents of the Borough, providing they have pre-
registered with the scheme. Over time, it is anticipated that the scheme will expand to 
improve coverage, but this may take a few years to achieve. 

6.7 Linkages to our work with the West Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA), the Local 
Enterprise Partnership or the Birmingham & Solihull Integrated Care System (ICS): 

6.7.1 This is a West Midlands Combined Authority funded project, a regional priority and 
one that the Council has supported. The Cycle hire scheme has been well received 
and used by both residents and visitors to Solihull. 

7.  List of appendices referred to 

7.1 Appendix A – Summary of scheme usage and tracking data 

7.2 Appendix B – Current pricing schedule 

8. Background papers used to compile this report 

8.1 Environment and Infrastructure Cabinet report – April 2021 

9. List of other relevant documents 

9.1 Solihull Connected – Transport Strategy 

9.2 Movement for Growth – West Midlands regional transport strategy 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A 

West Midlands Bike Hire – Solihull Performance Data 2021 

 

 

Page 11



Appendix A 

 

 

  

Page 12



Appendix A 

 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Tariff Guide 

PAYR Minute Bundle Early Morning Saver 

Pedal
£1 unlock fee + 5p p/min

10mins ride + £1.50

Ebike 
£1 unlock fee + 10p 

p/min

Cost examples:
10mins ride + £2

Pedal 

100 mins = £5

300 mins = £15

600 mins = £30

Pedal 

Between 6am and 11am  
5p p/min

20 mins ride = £1

Other Charges 

• Out of docking station £5 

• Bike out of Zone £10

• Maximum ride charge £10

To be introduced September 2021

P
age 15



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Meeting date: 18th November 2021 

 

Report to: Environment and Infrastructure Cabinet 

Subject/report 
title: 

Digital Average Speed Enforcement Pilot Evaluation Update 

Report from: Head of Highway Services 

Report 
author/lead 
contact officer: 

James McNeil / Paul Tovey 

jmcneil@solihull.gov.uk / ptovey@solihull.gov.uk 

 

 
Wards affected:  

☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood | 

☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle | 

☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South | 

☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege 

Public/private 
report: 

Public 

Exempt by virtue 
of paragraph: 

(If ‘Private’, select relevant paragraph below and delete the rest. 

If ‘Public’, delete all paragraph options) 

 
 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 To report on the outcomes of the Average Speed Enforcement (ASE) equipment pilot. 

2. Decision(s) recommended 

2.1 The Cabinet Member is asked to: 

(a) Note the performance of the ASE system (see Appendix A) and its positive 
contribution to road safety, speed management and reliable journey times at 
the three pilot locations. 

(b) Agree to expand the ASE scheme along A34 Stratford Road, between the M42 
motorway junction and the B4102 Marshall Lake Road. 

(c) Agree to remove any redundant Safety Camera Housings (GATSO sites) that 
are in a dangerous condition or have been vandalised. 

(d) Agree that officers develop a new business case with partners across the West 
Midlands to support the continued use of ASE equipment, in line with the 
region’s Road Safety priorities 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



 

 
 

(e) Agree to receive a further update in 12 months time. 

3. Matters for Consideration  

3.1 In 2013, fixed safety cameras within the West Midlands were switched off; in 2016 a 
contract was awarded to pilot a network of digital Average Speed Enforcement (ASE) 
cameras over five years at three sites in Solihull and five in Birmingham. The pilot has 
now come to an end and this report contains the evaluation results of this pilot. 

3.2 The contract for the operation and maintenance of the three sites in Solihull has been 
extended for a further two years, whilst discussions continue amongst partners to 
develop a new business case for the use of ASE across the region. 

4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them? 

4.1 The ASE cameras were installed, commissioned and went live on the 8 August 2016, 
at three locations in Solihull: 

• B425 Lode Lane (Moat Lane to Castle Lane)  

• B4114 Bradford Road (Old Croft Lane to Chester Road)  

• A3400 Stratford Road (Avenue Albert to School Road) 

4.2 Baseline traffic speed and casualty data has been collated for all three sites. The 
evaluation criteria for the pilot is primarily based on speed reduction. A later evaluation 
will be undertaken to assess the impact of ASE on road safety, however the sites 
chosen for the ASE pilot previously had GATSO cameras or mobile enforcement 
which would have impacted on safety at those locations. 

4.3 Traffic speeds for the sites in Solihull have been monitored during the trial and results 
in the table below show that 85th percentile speeds are all under the 30 mph speed 
limit. The ‘before ASE’ data was collected over a one-week period in April 2016 (apart 
from Lode Lane) using pneumatic spot speed counting devices. The ‘after ASE’ data 
was collected during the whole of May 2021 directly via the ASE cameras. 

Site Speed 
Limit 
(mph) 

85th %ile 
Speed before 

ASE (mph) 

85th %ile 
Speed after 
5 years of 
ASE (mph) 

Reduction in 
Speed (mph) 

B425 Lode Lane 
(NB)  

30 33.6* 29.9 3.7 (11%) 

B425 Lode Lane 
(SB) 

30 34.2* 28.8 5.4 (15.8%) 

B4114 Bradford 
Road (EB)  

30 38 28.3 9.7 (25.5%) 

B4114 Bradford 
Road (WB)  

30 N/A 28.4 N/A 

Page 18



 

 
 

A3400 Stratford 
Road (NB)  

30 38 29.9 8.1 (21.3%) 

A3400 Stratford 
Road (SB)  

30 38.5 28.4 10.1 (26.2%) 

* December 2014 figures 

4.4 As shown, the 85th percentile speed has significantly reduced at all sites after the 
implementation of ASE, with the most effective results along A3400 Stratford Rd (SB) 
and B4114 Bradford Road (EB) of 26.2% and 25.5% reductions respectively. ‘Before 
ASE’ data was not available for B4114 Bradford Road site, therefore the speed 
reduction could not be calculated. The ‘after’ speeds however show the 85%ile to be 
below the 30 mph speed limit. 

4.5 Between 8 August 2016 and 31 March 2021, a total of 51,746 vehicles activated the 
cameras in Solihull; 10,201 of these offences were sent to the Police’s Central 
Ticketing Office (CTO). A breakdown per site is detailed below.  

Site Description Activations Offences to CTO 

B425 Lode Lane 10,705 2,137 

B4114 Bradford Road, 
Castle Bromwich 

22,422 5,003 

A3400 Stratford Road, 
Hockley Heath 

18,619 3,061 

Total 51,746 10,201 

 

4.6 During the same period, a total of 437,788 activations were recorded at all 8 trial sites, 
with 65,427 offences being sent to the CTO for review. A proportion of offenders are 
offered the alternative of attending a Speed Awareness course, rather than paying a 
fixed penalty fine and having points on their driving licence. 

4.7 As a result, the proportion of the Speed Awareness course fees received by Solihull 
during the trial is £196,000, which has been partly used to fund the maintenance of 
the service at c£165,000. The balance is held in a reserve, currently at £268,473, 
which is planned to be used for future equipment maintenance costs, expansion of the 
scheme and removal of the redundant safety camera housing around the network. 
Any surplus will be ring fenced for other Road Safety initiatives. 

4.8 The Police have been approached regarding extending coverage of the ASE scheme 
to other sites and they have no objection, subject to the proposals not having a 
significant impact on their “back office” operations.  

4.9 A review of the Key Route Network and routes where the former GATSO Safety 
Cameras are located indicated that the A34 Stratford Road, from the M42 motorway to 
Olton Road / Haslucks Green Road, is the highest priority.  Due to the nature of the 

Page 19



 

 
 

collisions that have occurred along this route, there is no single site of concern where 
an engineering solution is required. Therefore, the introduction of ASE is considered 
to be the most appropriate solution.  

4.10 The Police have been approached regarding extending coverage of the ASE scheme 
to other sites and are generally in support. Speed and/or Road Traffic Collision (RTC) 
data for the last three years has been gathered for the A34 Stratford Road where it is 
proposed to introduce ASE cameras – 

• A34 Stratford Road (Green Hill Way to B4102 Marshall Lake Road) – 30 mph 
speed limit 

• A34 Stratford Road (B4102 Marshall Lake Road to M24 motorway) – 40 mph 
speed limit 

Site Speed  
Limit 
(mph) 

85th %ile 
Speed 
(mph) 

RTC 
Serious 
Injury 

Casualties 
2018-21 

RTC  
Fatal 

Casualties 
2018-21 

A34 Stratford Road (NB) 
(B4102 Marshall Lake 
Road to Green Hill Way) 

30 35.85 3 1 

A34 Stratford Road (SB) 
(Green Hill Way to 
B4102 Marshall Lake 
Road) 

30 35.96 As above As above 

A34 Stratford Road (NB) 
(M42 motorway to B4102 
Marshall Lake Road) 

40 TBC 3 0 

A34 Stratford Road (SB) 
(B4102 Marshall Lake 
Road to M42 motorway) 

40 TBC As above As above 

 

4.11 Recent speed data is not available for the A34 Stratford Road between B4102 
Marshall Lake Road and the M42 motorway, however, this was a previous fixed speed 
GATSO site and has a history of speeding, car cruising and road traffic collisions. 

4.12 It is therefore recommended that a budget of £200,000, funded from the reserve, be 
approved to introduce ASE speed enforcement along the A34 corridor. Given the 
characteristics of this route, there will need to be several enforceable sections, 
requiring multiple items of equipment, associated advisory signage and the removal of 
the redundant GATSO camera housings.  

4.13 It is suggested that the £68,473 balance be set aside to cover two aspects of the ASE 
project. Firstly, to ensure funding is available for annual maintenance costs and 
secondly to fund the removal of redundant GATSO camera housings from the network 

Page 20



 

 
 

as they become dangerous or vandalised. 

5. Reasons for recommending preferred option 

5.1 The pilot scheme has successfully demonstrated that ASE has a positive impact on 
speed limit compliance. More consistent overall journey speeds also help to improve 
road safety and reduce vehicle pollution levels, thereby improving air quality. It is 
therefore recommended that the use of ASE cameras should continue in Solihull: 

▪ The majority of drivers comply more consistently with the larger sections of 
streets monitored by ASE cameras than with spot speed enforcement (as 
provided by the previous GATSO cameras). Previously, it was found that 
drivers tended to slow down a few metres before the camera and accelerate 
once they pass the secondary check carriageway markings. Due to the 
method of capture by the ASE cameras and larger area of enforcement 
between two fixed points, the ASE system has a much larger “halo” effect 
because the driver is uncertain where the enforcement begins and ends.  

▪ No vandalism has been experienced on the ASE cameras in Solihull. The 
previous single site safety camera housings were frequently burnt, painted 
or subject to other forms of vandalism.  

▪ The cost of installation of the ASE cameras is comparable to the previous 
fixed speed cameras. The use of existing street lighting columns also 
reduces the impact on the street scene.  

▪ With the previous cameras, regular site visits were required to retrieve the 
film or to physically move the camera heads to another location. The new 
digital ASE technology allows camera rotation between sites to occur 
remotely from the back office and no regular site visits are required to 
collect evidence, which is electronically transferred to the Police back office.  

▪ Other benefits identified by West Midlands Police were the identification of 
clone vehicles and repeat offenders.  

▪ The ASE equipment collects data in respect of traffic speeds, journey time 
monitoring and vehicle data and has improved data analysis tools for 
statistical/planning purposes (refer to Appendix A).  

5.2 The project initially generated a number of Freedom of Information Act requests, 
generally concerning the number of offences resulting from ASE. Public perception 
has however been positive, with no complaints received. 

5.3 The pilot scheme was covered by a five-year operation and maintenance contract, 
with Jenoptik Traffic Ltd, who also operate and maintain the in-station back office 
equipment for the Police. In order for enforcement in Solihull to continue, a two-year 
extension to the contract has been negotiated and approved through the Council’s 
procurement process.  

5.4 The West Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA) is considering adopting a regional 
approach to ASE across the West Midlands Key Route Network (KRN), but this is still 
at an early stage. Therefore, extending Solihull’s contract by two years will enable us 

Page 21



 

 
 

to continue with the scheme until any wider strategy is adopted. 

5.5 The introduction of ASE along the A34 Stratford Road will help to support the 
Council’s over-arching Road Safety strategy and over time, deliver air quality / health 
benefits and importantly, will be located on the West Midlands Key Route Network. 
There are also benefits for journey time reliability for this important key economic 
transport corridor, which makes this a priority for the deployment of this technology. 

5.6 The are some 20 GATSO housings left on the highway network, most over 20 years 
old. Their condition is deteriorating and their benefits are reducing. There are several 
sites that have been vandalised and in poor condition and it is recommended that they 
are now removed, together with associated signage.  

6. Implications and Considerations 

6.1 State how the proposals in this report contribute to the priorities in the Council Plan: 

Priority: Contribution: 

Economy: 

1. Revitalising our towns and local 
centres. 

2. UK Central (UKC) and maximising the 
opportunities of HS2. 

3. Increase the supply of housing, 
especially affordable and social 
housing. 

The ASE scheme allows more control over 
the network and a reduction in congestion 
due to stop/start movements, facilitating 
growth within the Borough. 

Environment: 

4. Enhance Solihull’s natural environment. 
5. Improve Solihull’s air quality. 
6. Reduce Solihull’s net carbon emissions. 

Reduced vehicle speeds result in fewer and 
less serious RTCs and also improve air 
quality through a reduced carbon 
emissions. 

People and Communities: 

7. Take action to improve life chances in 
our most disadvantaged communities. 

8. Enable communities to thrive. 
9. Sustainable, quality, affordable 

provision for adults and children with 
complex needs. 

Lower vehicle speeds create an 
environment where people feel safer when 
undertaking everyday tasks, which also 
encourages walking and cycling. 

 

6.2 Consultation and Scrutiny: 

6.2.1 This project has not been considered by the Council’s Scrutiny process.  

6.2.2 Consultation with stakeholders has continued throughout the period of the pilot which 
has all been very positive and an example of some excellent partnership working. 

Page 22

https://www.solihull.gov.uk/Portals/0/Ourvisionandpriorities/Council_plan.pdf


 

 
 

6.3 Financial implications: 

6.4 A reserve is in place for the project, which was created and considered prudent at the 
inception of the project to cover any shortfall in the schemes operating costs, and to 
account for any operational changes required during the trial or changes to the scope 
of the project. The balance in reserve now sits at £268,473. As reported above the 
Speed Awareness course fees received by Solihull during the project trial is £196,000 
which has been partly used to fund the maintenance of the service at approximately 
£165,000 with the difference being used contribute to the Average Speed Camera 
reserve. 

6.5 Should driver behaviours generally improve, leading to fewer speeding contraventions 
then there is a risk of a net annual financial pressure to manage in future years. 

6.6 More recently, ASE projects have been introduced in Coventry and the Black Country 
under similar terms and conditions with West Midlands Police. These have created 
additional pressures on the police back office processes and in the courts too. For this 
reason, the West Midlands Local Highway Authorities, Transport for West Midlands 
and West Midlands Police are currently working together to see if a more cost efficient 
and consistent approach could be developed for a regional service. It is recommended 
that Solihull should support this initiative which is expected to take up to 2 years to 
bring to a conclusion.  

6.6.1 The use of the project reserves is set out in the main body of the report and will be 
sufficient to fund both the ASE expansion and removal of the GATSO housing / 
signage. 

6.7 Legal implications: 

6.7.1 None as a result of the recommendations of this report. 

6.8 Risk implications: 

6.8.1 The Council’s corporate Risk Management approach is being followed and the 
Project’s risk register has no identified RED risks. 

6.9 Equality implications: 

None as a result of the recommendations of this report. 

7. List of appendices referred to 

7.1 Appendix A – ASE Site performance data. 

8. Background papers used to compile this report 

8.1 Transport & Highways Cabinet Report – January 2019. 

9. List of other relevant documents 

9.1 None. 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A  

Average Speed Enforcement -  Site performance data 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 25



 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 26



 

 

 

 

 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Meeting date: 
 
Report to: 
 
Subject/report title:  
 
Report from: 
 
Report author/lead 
contact officer:   
 

18 November 2021 
 
Cabinet Member for Environment & Infrastructure 
 
PETITION SUMMARY 
 
Head of Highway Management 
 

David Keaney / Paul Tovey 

Tel: 0121 704 6479 

Email:  ptovey@solihull.gov.uk 

 

 
Wards affected:  

☐ All Wards | ☒ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood | 

☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☒ Knowle | 

☒ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South | 

☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege 

 

 
Public/private 
report: 
 

Public 

Exempt by virtue 
of paragraph:  
 

N/A 

 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 To provide an update on three petitions received for the Environment and 
Infrastructure portfolio, and where appropriate, agree the associated 
recommendations. 

2. Decision(s) recommended 

2.1 Cabinet Member is asked to: 

(a) Note the petitions received and the proposed programme for investigating 
and responding to them as detailed in Appendix A 

(b) To approve the installation of a new pedestrian refuge at the junction of 
Pierce Avenue with Lincoln Road North 

Page 29

Agenda Item 6

mailto:ptovey@solihull.gov.uk


(c) To note that speed data for Lincoln Road North will be shared with West 
Midlands Police and the road will be included on the Speed Aware 
programme. 

3. Matters for Consideration – Petitions 1: Request to introduce measures to deal 
with speeding on Lincoln Road North 

3.1 On 28 July 2021, Mr Ian McCormick submitted a petition on behalf of local residents, 
requesting that measures be introduced to deal with speeding on Lincoln Road North. 

4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them? 

4.1 Lincoln Road North is an unclassified local distributor road. It links the Avenue in 
Birmingham with Barn Lane/Clay Lane and is designated as “traffic sensitive” due to 
the function it performs. It forms the administrative boundary between Solihull and 
Birmingham and responsibility for the road rests jointly with the two Councils. 

4.2 Whilst the petition specifically references concerns over speed, the Council is also 
aware of a recent collision at the junction of Lincoln Road North with Pierce Avenue. 
This prompted concerns from local residents, specifically in relation to vehicles failing 
to comply with the junction, as they make a right-hand turn from Lincoln Road North 
onto Pierce Avenue. (A video taken from site demonstrating such behaviours will be 
presented at the Cabinet meeting). 

4.3 The petition is supported by local ward Councillors and the MP for Birmingham 
Yardley, Jess Phillips. 

4.4 In response to the concerns raised, the following steps have been undertaken by the 
Highway Management team: 

(a) A vehicle speed survey commissioned 

(b) A review of collision statistics undertaken to establish any trends or patterns 
associated with this location 

(c) site observations and monitoring to consider driver behaviour at the Pierce 
Avenue junction 

(d) Engagement with colleagues at West Midlands Police and Birmingham City 
Council to discuss opportunities for collaborative working to address the 
concerns raised. 

4.5 A summary of the vehicle speed survey results is contained in Appendix B. The 
results indicate that whilst there are isolated vehicles significantly exceeding the 
speed limit, the mean speeds are below 30mph, with the two-way 85%ile speed of 
31.7mph, which is the metric used nationally to assess speed. 

4.6 Considering the data further shows that 6% of motorists exceeded the 30mph speed 
limit by more than 5mph. This is the metric used by the Police in terms of enforcement 
and the issuing of summons. It is noted that less than 1% (0.6%) of motorists 
exceeded the limit by more than 15mph.  

4.7 This data indicates that compliance with the posted speed limit at the time of the 
Page 30



survey was generally good and betters national trends for the compliance of speed 
limits on 30mph roads. 

4.8 A review of records shows that there were no recorded collisions associated with this 
road for the last three years, 2018-2020. As set out in section 4.2, a collision involving 
two vehicles occurred in June, where a motorist sustained injuries.  

4.9 West Midlands Police have advised that speed was unlikely to have been the primary 
cause of this collision. Nevertheless, they are supportive of measures being 
introduced to discourage drivers cutting the corner at this junction.  

4.10 In response to the concerns raised, three potential options to aid operation of the 
junction have been considered: 

(a) Installation of a new roundabout in place of the existing ‘give way’ junction on 
Pierce Avenue. 

(b) Installation of a pedestrian refuge  

(c) Visual narrowing of junction through lining 

4.10.2 The installation of a new roundabout has the potential to aid operation of this junction 
and act as a traffic calming feature. The existing geometry precludes the installation of 
standard roundabout; however, it may be possible to provide a painted mini 
roundabout within the extent of the existing highway.  

4.10.3 Such a solution would require changes to the kerb line on the Birmingham side of the 
highway, as well as the introduction of new parking restrictions. These would impact a 
number of properties, including the Olton Fish Bar, all of which utilise on street 
parking.  

4.10.4 This parking has a natural traffic calming effect, which would be lost if a scheme came 
forward. It would also need the support of Birmingham City Council. 

4.10.5 The installation of a new pedestrian refuge traffic island will encourage improved 
compliance of the existing ‘give way’ junction by providing a visual reminder to drivers. 

4.10.6 A swept path analysis demonstrates that such a solution would require the existing 
parking on the western side of Lincoln Road North to be restricted, if placed at the 
junction. Doing so would require the support of Birmingham City Council. Discussions 
to date indicate that this is not something that they would be prepared to progress at 
this time. 

4.10.7 The provision of additional hatching to visually narrow the radius of the junction could 
provide a visual prompt to drivers and encourage improved compliance with the 
existing junction. Such a solution could be installed at limited cost and would require 
no changes to existing parking restrictions. It would, however, be reliant on driver 
compliance and, due to established behaviours, may not result in significant behaviour 
change. There would be revenue associated with maintaining the new markings. 

5. Reasons for recommending preferred option 

5.1 A review of vehicle speeds and collision records do not support Lincoln Road North 
being prioritised for immediate interventions of speed reducing measures. As such, it 

Page 31



is suggested that the results from the recent speed survey should be shared with 
colleagues at West Midlands Police for consideration to undertake enforcement 
activity. It is also suggested that Lincoln Road North be included in the Council’s 
speed visor programme for the deployment of a temporary vehicle activated speed 
sign. These are intended to encourage compliance with the speed limit.  

5.2 A review of all collisions in the borough is undertaken every two years, to draw up a 
priority list for road safety improvements. The next review will take place in January 
2022. Lincoln Road North will continue to be monitored as part of this review and, if 
appropriate, prioritised for further interventions.  

5.2.1 On site observations, supported by the Police, have confirmed that driver compliance 
with the existing ‘give way’ markings at Pierce Avenue could be improved. Whilst it 
would not be possible to install a roundabout or traffic island at the junction mouth 
without changing parking behaviours, it would be possible to introduce a pedestrian 
refuge set back from the junction. This would operate in a similar fashion to the 
existing pedestrian refuge at Marcot Road, at its junction with Wagon Lane.  

5.2.2 This solution would enable vehicles and buses to turn in and out of Pierce Lane 
without impacting the parking that takes place opposite the junction. By setting the 
refuge back from the mouth of the junction, a natural pinch point will be created, which 
will discourage right turning traffic from cutting across the junction as they turn from 
Lincoln Road North into Pierce Avenue. Access to the shops on the northern side of 
the junction would also be maintained, whilst aiding pedestrians crossing this busy 
junction at peak periods.  

6. Matters for Consideration – Petitions 2: Introduce traffic calming measures on 
the residential area of Jacobean Lane 

6.1 At Full Council, on 5 October 2021, Councillor Pinwell submitted a petition on behalf of 
residents of Jacobean Lane, calling on the Council to introduce traffic calming 
measures on the residential section of Jacobean Lane in light of concerns about 
frequent, excessive speeding and its regular use as a ‘cut through’ when the M42 is 
busy. 

6.2 This matter is currently being investigated, and the outcome will be reported at the 
Cabinet Member decision session on 14 December 2021. This will provide sufficient 
time for the matters to be considered and appropriate responses/actions prepared. 

7. Matters for Consideration – Petitions 3: Introduce speed enforcement measures 
along Station Road Marston Green 

7.1 On 28 October 2021, Councillor Bob Sleigh submitted a petition on behalf of residents 
of Marston Green, requesting that measures be introduced to deal with speeding on 
Station Road.  Of particular concern was the section between Holly Lane / Allcott Lane 
/ Elm Farm Avenue.  The preferred option being the provision of a speed camera. 

7.2 This matter is currently being investigated, and the outcome will be reported at the 
Cabinet Member decision session on 10 January 2022. This will provide sufficient time 
for the matters to be considered and appropriate responses/actions prepared. 

Page 32



8. Implications and Considerations 

8.1 State how the proposals in this report contribute to the priorities in the Council Plan: 

Priority: Contribution: 

Economy: 

1. Revitalising our towns and local 
centres. 

2. Deliver UK Central (UKC) and maximise 
the opportunities of HS2. 

3. Increase the supply, quality and energy 
efficiency of housing, especially 
affordable and social housing. 

The Council’s priorities have been taken 
into consideration when making the 
recommendations contained within this 
report. It is considered that there are no 
direct implications as a result of the 
recommendations of this report. 

Environment: 

4. Enhance Solihull’s natural and physical 
environment. 

5. Improve Solihull’s air quality. 
6. Reduce Solihull’s net carbon emissions. 

The Council’s priorities have been taken 
into consideration when making the 
recommendations contained within this 
report and there are no significant 
environmental implications. 

People and Communities: 

7. Take action to improve life chances and 
health outcomes in our most 
disadvantaged communities. 

8. Enable communities to thrive. 
9. Sustainable, quality care and support 

for adults and children with complex 
needs. 

 

Safety and accessibility is at the heart of 
everything the Council does when 
considering making changes to how the 
public highway operates. This includes the 
safety of children, young people and our 
most vulnerable road user groups. 

The views received from residents will be 
taken into consideration through the formal 
Traffic Regulation Order representation 
process.  

10. Promote employee wellbeing Not applicable. 

8.2 Consultation and Scrutiny: 

8.2.1 The matters arising from these petitions have not been subject to review by any of the 
Council’s Scrutiny Boards. With any proposed changes the associated statutory 
consultation process will be followed. 

8.3 Financial implications: 

8.3.1 The cost associated with managing the petition will be funded from the Highway 
Management staff revenue budget. The anticipated cost for the proposed pedestrian 
refuge at Pierce Avenue is £5,000. It is intended that this would be funded out of the 
Highways Management minor capital works budget, as part of the 2021/22 financial 
period.   

8.3.2 There are no significant financial implications associated with this report. 

Page 33

https://www.solihull.gov.uk/About-the-Council/The-Council-plan


8.4 Legal implications: 

8.4.1 None because of this report.  

8.5 Risk implications: 

8.5.1 The Corporate Risk Management Approach has been complied with to identify and 
assess the significant risk associated with this decision/project. This includes (but is 
not limited to), financial, political, legislation and reputation risks. 

8.6 The approach is not intended to eliminate all risks and not all the risks identified can 
be managed all the time.  Also, risks will still exist that have not been identified. 
However, based on the information provided, no significant risks have been identified. 

8.7 Equality implications: 

8.7.1 None because of the recommendations of this report. 

8.8 Linkages to our work with the West Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA), the 
Local Enterprise Partnership or the Birmingham & Solihull Integrated Care 
System (ICS): 

8.8.1 None. 

9.  List of appendices referred to 

9.1 Petition Update November 2021 – Appendix A. 

9.2 Vehicle Speed Survey Results – Appendix B. 

10. Background papers used to compile this report 

10.1 The two petitions referred to. 

11. List of other relevant documents 

11.1 None 

Page 34



 1 

APPENDIX A 

PETITION UPDATE 18 NOVEMBER 2021 
 

Petition Title  Date 
Received 

Service Area 
Responsible 

Councillor Action Being Taken Date of Full 
Report, 

Summary or 
Letter 

Cabinet 
Decision 
Session 

Request to introduce measures 
to deal with speeding on Lincoln 
Road North 

28 July 2021 Sustainable 
Travel and 
Highway 

Management 

N/A Phase 2 -  November 2021 Environment 
and 

Infrastructure 

Introduce traffic calming 
measures on the residential area 
of Jacobean Lane 

5 October 
2021 

Sustainable 
Travel and 
Highway 

Management 

Councillor 
Pinwell 

Phase 1 – Currently being 
investigated. 

December 2021 Environment 
and 

Infrastructure 

Introduce speed enforcement 
cameras along Station Road, 
Marston Green 

28 October 
2021 

Sustainable 
Travel and 
Highway 

Management 

Councillor 
Sleigh 

Phase 1 – Currently being 
investigated. 

January 2022 Environment 
and 

Infrastructure 

 

P
age 35



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B

12005 / Solihull
September 2021

Automatic Traffic Count

Site 
No.

Location. Direction.
Speed Limit 
- PSL (mph)

Start Date. End Date.
Total 

Vehicles.
5 Day Ave. 7 Day Ave.

No. > 
Speed 
Limit.

%. > 
Speed 
Limit.

No. > 
ACPO 
Limit.

%. > ACPO 
Limit.

No. > DfT 
Limit.

%. > DfT 
Limit.

Mean 
Speed

85%ile 
Speed

North 30 
23 September 

2021
29 September 

2021
33543 5131 4792 6270 18.7 1731 5.2 230 0.7 25.9 30.8

South 30 
23 September 

2021
29 September 

2021
30582 4571 4369 8828 28.9 2108 6.9 158 0.5 27.5 32.4

Two way 30 
23 September 

2021
29 September 

2021
64125 9702 9161 15098 23.5 3839 6.0 388 0.6 26.7 31.7

Lincoln Road North, Att 
- tree, OSGR: SP 13182 

83353
10

P
age 37



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 West Midlands Cycle Hire scheme - update
	Appendix A Solihull Cycle Hire performance data.pdf
	Appendix B - WMCH Pricing Q3 2021.pdf

	5 Digital Average Speed Enforcement Pilot Evaluation Update
	Appendix A - Site Performance Data.pdf

	6 Petition Summary
	Appendix  A - Nov 21 v3.pdf
	Appendix B.pdf


